
 
525 Golden Gate Avenue, 13th Floor 

San Francisco, CA 94102  
T 415.554.3155 
F 415.554.3161 

TTY 415.554.348 

OUR MISSION: To provide our customers with high-quality, efficient, and reliable water, power and sewer services in a manner that 
values environmental and community interests and sustains the resources entrusted to our care. 
 

San Francisco Public Utilities Commission 
Citizens’ Advisory Committee 

Wastewater Subcommittee 
  

MEETING MINUTES 
 

Tuesday, March 10, 2026 
5:30 p.m. – 7:00 p.m. 

525 Golden Gate Ave., 3rd Floor Tuolumne Conference Room 

Members of the public may observe and participate via Zoom virtual conference software. 

Zoom meeting recording link: 
https://sfwater.zoom.us/rec/share/aBXETOSUsQNMbo5oPwj13-

HfqyAMFT68pVeJscESSBz88vHeVF74ZRh4Yl4iLqU.3S5T-X7YVGqQEWUg 
 

Passcode: 
 211939 

 

Mission: The Wastewater Subcommittee shall review sewage and stormwater collection, 
treatment, and disposal system replacement, recycling, and other relevant plans, programs, and 

policies (Admin. Code Article XV, Sections 5.140 - 5.142). 

Members 
Amy Nagengast, Chair (D8)  Erin Roach (D2)  Andrea Baker (B-Small 

Business) 
Douglas Jacuzzi (D4) Arthine Cossey van 

Duyne (B-Environ. 
Justice) 

 

 
D = District Supervisor appointed, M = Mayoral appointed, B = Board President appointed   
 
Staff Liaisons:  Lexus Moncrease and Lupita Garcia 
Staff Email for Public Comment: cac@sfwater.org 
 

ORDER OF BUSINESS 

1. Call to order and roll call at 5:35 pm  
Present (3): Jacuzzi, Roach, Cossey van Duyne  

Absent (2): Nagengast*, Baker 

Staff/Presenters: Elaine Leeming, Allan Rayo, Josh Green 

*Chair Nagengast marked present at 6:23 pm  

 
2. Approve the January 13, 2026, Meeting Minutes 

A motion was made (Roach) and seconded (Cossey van Duyne) to approve 
the January 13, 2026, Meeting Minutes.  

The minutes were approved without objection.  

Public Comment: None.  

https://sfwater.zoom.us/j/83799232515?pwd=LdGCGPAfDrxfLkYPTToeraSngSpaat.1
https://sfwater.zoom.us/j/83799232515?pwd=LdGCGPAfDrxfLkYPTToeraSngSpaat.1
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/san_francisco/latest/sf_admin/0-0-0-2176#JD_Ch.5Art.XV
mailto:cac@sfwater.org
https://www.sfpuc.gov/sites/default/files/about-us/agendas-minutes/CAC-ww_01132026%20Minutes.pdf


 
3. Report from the Chair  

• Welcome members, staff, and the public 
• Public Memo re CCSF v. U.S.E.P.A. 
• CCSF v. U.S.E.P.A. Oral Argument Audio 
• U.S. and California take Enforcement action against S.F. for Clean Water 

Violations 

Public Comment: None. 

 
4. Public Comment: Members of the public may address the Committee on matters 

that are within the Committee’s jurisdiction and are not on today’s agenda (2 
minutes per speaker) 
Public Comment: None.  

 
5. Presentation and Discussion: Wastewater Enterprise Business Plan, Elaine T. 

Leeming, Manager, Business Strategy & Performance Division, SFPUC Wastewater 
Enterprise 

i. Resources: Wastewater enterprise: Hiring Challenges and Opportunities 
(presented to Wastewater CAC on March 11, 2025)  

Presentation:  

• Wastewater Enterprise 
• Wastewater Enterprise Business Plan 
• Wastewater Enterprise Overview 
• Wastewater Enterprise Organizational Chart 
• Wastewater Enterprise Goals 
• WWE Business Plan 

Discussion:  

• Member Cossey van Duyne asked when this was completed.  
 
Staff Rayo responded it was completed in September. The goals were finalized 
in June but the photos, graphics and editing the Business Plan pamphlet took 
time which was finalized in September. 
 

• Member Cossey van Duyne asked if this is considered an internal 
communication and if the quarterly checks in wait until this is distributed. 
  
Staff Rayo responded it is considered an internal communication, and the 
meetings happen before because there is already a digital version.  
 
Staff Leeming further responded that the meetings kicked off in the fall. 
 

• Member Jacuzzi commented the picture on the back was funded through the 
Green Infrastructure (GI) grant because he has seen a similar picture on the 
SFPUC website and this is an excellent picture.   
 
Member Roached commented that all the pictures on the business plan are 
beautiful and asked what some of the pictures were of.  
 
Staff Rayo responded they are Oceanside, Lake Merced, the cover is the 
Biodigesters Facilities Project (BDFP) at the time the picture was taken, and 
Headworks where all the eastside wastewater flows into.  

https://www.sfcityattorney.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/10/2024.10.04-EPA-Public-memo_FINAL_2024.10.04.pdf
https://www.supremecourt.gov/oral_arguments/audio/2024/23-753
https://www.epa.gov/newsreleases/united-states-and-california-take-enforcement-action-against-san-francisco-violations
https://www.epa.gov/newsreleases/united-states-and-california-take-enforcement-action-against-san-francisco-violations
https://sfpuc.sharefile.com/public/share/web-sce115262c4f749338f9201cf6f75d12a
https://sfpuc.sharefile.com/public/share/web-sb842e8bd00af48cfae50b83db05ebe1f


• Member Cossey van Duyne asked how the priorities for the business plan are 
identified. 
 
Staff Rayo responded this happens in the third step: the objective development 
workshop where all Subject Matter Experts (SMEs) are identified and have 
recurring development workshops to work and finalize the priorities. Many of the 
SMEs are supervisors and they already have an idea of what the issues are.  
 

• Member Cossey van Duyne asked if these meetings are internally facilitated or 
if there is an external party facilitating.  
 
Staff Rayo responded he coordinates and facilitates the meetings.  
 
Member Cossey van Duyne asked if it is only a set of SMES who can 
participate in this process.  
 
Staff Rayo responded yes.   
 
Member Cossey van Duyne asked if there is a process for individuals not 
identified in this process but may be impacted by these decisions to have their 
voice heard. 
 
Staff Rayo responded not directly but their voices are heard indirectly through 
SMEs.  
 

• Member Cossey van Duyne commented there are a few horizontal topics 
touching the goals like money and risk and can have great or terrible impacts on 
being able to meet the stated goals and asked if there is any scenario planning or 
working exercise to figure out what the criticality of the objectives are.  
 
Staff Rayo responded they do not have a scenario plan and have gone through 
a few iterations of the business plan and had experiences where there are 
external constraints that won’t allow for a process to be completed so that’s why 
this version is pared down.  
 
Member Cossey van Duyne commented there are lots of externalities that we 
have no control over such as funding and climate change and asked how the 
SFPUC is taking these into consideration and how the organization is prepared 
to respond to these. 
 
Staff Leeming responded this happens in the meetings where SMEs discuss the 
management of the different key results that are identified, and these are things 
taken into consideration when planning the next one. 
 

• Member Cossey van Duyne asked if at all would they want the San Francisco 
community to support them through this process.  
 
Staff Rayo responded the public is not currently aware of everything Wastewater 
Enterprise (WWE) does, and this would be something they would like to change. 
They would like the public to know WWE is forward thinking and being proactive 
and collaborative as best they can to deal with the externalities and want the 
public to know about the resources available like the grant programs the SPFUC 
offers.  
 
Staff Leeming further responded it is important the community understands what 
we do and they ways it improved the processes to make us a better product and 
neighbor for example there is not as much odor in the neighborhood. This ties 



into what Staff Green in conjunction with the Communications team does like 
outreach on the public tours which have restarted since the pandemic and 
construction projects. There are also tours for staff to make sure they understand 
all processes.   
 
Staff Green further responded that the tours were well received last year and are 
going to have another set of tours this dry season which runs from May through 
October.    
 

• Member Jacuzzi commented that the graphic presented is specifically circular 
and asked what would be considered overlap and when does step 1 start to 
happen in anticipation of the next round of goal planning.  
 
Staff Rayo responded that the goal area is chosen in December of the second 
fiscal year so for example if the fiscal year ends June 2027, so 7 months before 
the end of a 24-month plan. In January, the SMEs are identified for example, for 
the next plan Workforce Planning will be selected and the goal sponsor and 
objective coordinators will be selected, and those individuals will be Elaine, 
Angela, Josh, and Michael and if Elaine had someone working on hiring then 
they get brought on. From February to April (five to three months before the start 
of a fiscal year), objective development workshops are scheduled 3-4 weeks 
apart where the first one is though all ideas on the table and by the end of the 
end of the meetings, are wordsmithing the goals. From April to June (three to one 
month[s] before the start of the fiscal year) photos for the business plan are 
selected, reflections on the previous year’s goals are written by the SMEs. During 
this time, the business plans overlap in stages 4 and 5.  

 
 
Staff Leeming further responded that stages 4 and 5 are 75% of the two-year 
business plan and stages 1,2, and 3 are 7 months before the business plan 
ends. 
 

• Member Roach commented safety, workforce planning, asset, long-term 
planning sound broad and asked what does not make it.  
 
Staff Leeming responded she will need to look back because it has been 
evolving but the goals have been similar for the past three plans.  
 
Staff Rayo further responded that the first plan was more complex and was 60 
pages and since then, Assistant General Manager (AGM) Joel Prather has been 
AGM for a few years, Staff Leeming has been key to this plan and Staff Rayo has 
had a few years to streamline the process.  
 

• Member Cossey van Duyne asked if these boil down to Key Performance 
Indicators (KPI) for everyone in the organization.  
 
Staff Rayo responded that KPIs were mentioned at the beginning, but these are 
high-level goals that will affect everyone which is why it was shared. For 
example, safety is one everyone should be interested in and is affected because 
high level, we do not want anyone to get hurt and we have the safety 
mechanisms such as training and safety gear, and employees also need to take 
awareness and accountability in achieving the goals.  
 
Staff Leeming further responded to get down to the next level of each objective, 
part of the objective is coming up with key results which are the pieces they need 
to do and as we are making progress, these are part of the report our which is 
how staff are learning more. 



   
Staff Green further responded there is a story in “The Collector” coming out next 
month about work-related injury rates which are down 3 years in a row.  
 

• Member Cossey van Duyne commented that she can see how this applies 
beyond physical safety and can include cyber-safety and asked how this team 
interacts with the external communications team to share examples externally 
that humanize and demonstrate the effort in organizing to be the best possible 
version and demonstrate values. 
 
Staff Green responded he is the only internal communications person who works 
for Wastewater itself, and he is in constant contact with communication staff in 
External Affairs, specifically Jake and Idil who are wastewater liaisons and one of 
Staff Green’s personal objectives is to get more public awareness of Wastewater 
to showcase its essential functions at the agency. 
 
Member Cossey van Duyne asked if external communications have an editorial 
calendar.  
 
Staff Green responded yes, and he works on internal communications specific to 
wastewater and Idil and Jake work more on highlighting Wastewater agency wide 
and there is not much overlap but there is opportunity for more collaboration.      
 
Member Cossey van Duyne commented she is looking at this from an 
environmental justice lens and many of the agency’s employees are also San 
Francisco residents who are ambassadors for the agency, and this is an 
opportunity for employees to be proud of the work they do and telling friends and 
neighbors and humanizes the agency. 
 
Staff Green responded this is a great point and hopes he is achieving this 
through “The Collector” and the tours because before he was brought on, there 
was not an opportunity for Wastewater employees who did not work at the plant 
to tour the facility and now they are able to sign up with him and go during the 
summer.  
 
Staff Leeming further responded the agency has done regular employee 
surveys and the percentage of staff proud to work at the agency has gone up.  
 
Member Cossey van Duyne commented that this is interesting since employee 
satisfaction is not a goal that is stated.  
 
Staff Leeming responded with some of the areas of engagement feed into the 
goals listed.  
 

• Member Jacuzzi asked where in the 5-step process is the Commission 
engaged.  
 
Staff Leeming responded they do not engage with the Commission however, 
this is tied into budget and the 10-year Capital Improvement Plan which both of 
those are shared with the Commission. 
 

• Member Jacuzzi commented the staffing goal states there is an increase in 
recruiters but does not explain the recruiters process and asked how Wastewater 
is doing on staffing and if operations are going great but there are still a high 
number of vacancies has Wastewater thought of eliminating positions. 
 



Staff Leeming responded staffing is a complicated area and the business plan 
does call out particular roles Wastewater wants to hire and there is a particular 
goal in the plan that discusses the topic of a previous presentation given to the 
CAC about wanting to have a program where it would give Wastewater the 
opportunity to tap into a bigger pool of candidates to hire for stationary engineers. 
This project is called out in Objective 1 and this process is still ongoing. This time 
last year, we were in the middle of a stricter hiring freeze where we were able to 
fill some positions, but the process was very slow because every request needed 
to be approved internally, then by the Department of Human Resources (DHR) 
then the Mayor’s Office. Service Critical positions can get through more easily. 
The agency took a big hit on staffing during the pandemic and have not caught 
up by the time the hiring freeze took place so there are still vacancies. 
 
Member Jacuzzi asked if service critical positions are staff working on the field 
or if they are managers.  
 
Staff Leeming responded some managers supervise crews who operate and 
maintain the sewer system and some service critical positions are found in 
regulatory division within Wastewater. 
 
Member Jacuzzi asked with the shortfall in staff, how efficiency is evaluated.  
 
Staff Leeming responded she cannot evaluate every single area, but people are 
getting the job done, and sometimes it takes overtime, however not every 
employee is eligible for overtime and there are some staff members doing the 
tasks for two roles. Wastewater is facing lots of retirements which are going to 
impact staffing and there is a constant battle trying to rebuild the intuitional and 
operational knowledge. We can run statistical reports to estimate retirement 
based on number of years of service and age and try to factor this into the hiring 
plan. There is a running job announcement to try to fill these positions with the 
best qualified candidate.  
 
Member Jacuzzi commented that this is good to see highlighted as one of the 
primary goals.  
 

• Member Cossey van Duyne commented there is a workforce development plan 
that reaches the San Francisco Unified School District (SFUSD) and asked if 
there is ever a plan to create a pipeline that SFPUC can hire from within San 
Francisco such as stationary engineers.    
 
Staff Leeming responded there are community and intern-based programs that 
SFPUC uses to bring people to learn but for the operator positions that SFPUC 
hires, there are minimum qualifications (MQ)s that candidates need to meet and 
SFPUC is in the process of trying to broaden those MQs.  SFPUC does 
participate in certain apprenticeship programs such as the Stationary Engineer 
Apprenticeship run by Local 39 Union. The union has recently brought this 
program back and SFPUC hired their first cohort of apprentices last January. On 
the Electronic Instrumentation positions, SFPUC had a partnership with City 
College, but it did not work as well as they had hoped with the training they were 
receiving in class compared to the training students received at Los Medanos 
Community College.    
 

• Chair Nagengast asked what the high-level trends from the past 10 years are.  
 

• Staff Leeming responded she does not go that far with the business plan. 
Overtime it has been streamlined, and the trend is to continue to streamline it to 
pair down the goal areas to see what is able to be accomplished in two years.  



 
Staff Rayo further responded that learning has been at a big level where some 
goals have stayed for a few iterations of the business plan and have learned how 
to modify it to make it more achievable.  
 

• Chair Nagengast commented it would be helpful to capture the change in focus 
areas historically because it would help create institutional knowledge among 
staff and asked if there is movement to make the objectives more quantifiable 
.  
Staff Leeming responded the quantitative aspect is thought the Key Results 
which tend to be more specific.  
 

• Chair Nagengast asked if there is a retrospective view.  
 
Staff Rayo responded yes there is a retrospective report included in the plan and 
there is a goal tracker that has the data but is not included in the plan.  
 
Chair Nagengast commented that if this data is already available it would be 
great to incorporate it.  
 
Member Roach commented this would also support Communications since the 
impact goes to pride.  

 
Public Comment: None.  
 

6. Future Agenda Items and Resolutions 
• Adopted Resolutions for Follow Up 

 Resolution in Support of SFPUC Class A Biosolids Local Distribution 
Program adopted August 21, 2018 

 Resolution in Support of Equitable Green Infrastructure Implementation 
throughout the Southeast Sector of San Francisco and throughout the 
City adopted on June 20, 2017 

 Resolution Urging SFPUC Commission to Initiate Planning and 
Environmental Review for Building a New Community Center at Third 
and Evans and to Direct Staff to Develop an Interim Greenhouse 
Environmental and Workforce Development Program adopted on 
October 18, 2016. 

 Resolution Supporting the SFPUC to Conduct Robust Community 
Engagement to Determine the Community’s Preference for 
Remodeling Southeast Community Facility at 1800 Oakdale or Building 
a New Community Center at 1550 Evans adopted on January 19, 2016 

Public Comment: None.  

7. Announcements/Comments Visit sfpuc.gov/cac for final confirmation of the next 
meeting date.  
Public Comment: None.  

 
8. Adjournment at 7:11 pm  

 

 
For more information concerning the agendas, minutes, and meeting information, please visit 
sfpuc.gov/cac. For more information concerning the CAC, please contact by email at cac@sfwater.org or 
by calling (415) 517-8465. 
 
 

https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1rk5IQVQEb2wjX3eLwS3tBp5lA6JfcO0yQBHXwGF_SA0/edit?gid=0#gid=0
https://sfpuc.gov/sites/default/files/about-us/CAC_Resolutions-2018.pdf
https://sfpuc.gov/sites/default/files/about-us/Full%20CAC%202017%20Resolutions%20Combined.pdf
https://www.sfpuc.gov/sites/default/files/about-us/2016%20resolutions%20merged.pdf
https://www.sfpuc.gov/sites/default/files/about-us/2016%20resolutions%20merged.pdf
https://www.sfpuc.gov/cac
https://www.sfpuc.gov/cac
mailto:cac@sfwater.org


Disability Access  
  
The following services are available on request 48 hours prior to the meeting; except for Monday 
meetings, for which the deadline shall be 4:00 p.m. of the last business day of the preceding week: For 
American sign language interpreters or the use of a reader during a meeting, a sound enhancement 
system, and/or alternative formats of the agenda and minutes, please contact Lexus Moncrease at (415) 
517-8465 or our TTY at (415) 554-3488 to make arrangements for the accommodation. Late requests will 
be honored, if possible.  
 
In order to assist the City's efforts to accommodate persons with severe allergies, environmental 
illnesses, multiple chemical sensitivity or related disabilities, attendees at public meetings are reminded 
that other attendees may be sensitive to various chemical based products. Please help the City 
accommodate these individuals. Individuals with chemical sensitivity or related disabilities should call our 
accessibility hotline at (415) 554-6789.  
 
 
LANGUAGE ACCESS  
Per the Language Access Ordinance (Chapter 91 of the San Francisco Administrative Code), Chinese, 
Spanish and or Filipino (Tagalog) interpreters will be available upon requests. Meeting Minutes may be 
translated, if requested, after they have been adopted by the Committee. Assistance in additional 
languages may be honored whenever possible. To request assistance with these services please contact 
Lexus Moncrease at (415) 517-8465, or cac@sfwater.org at least 48 hours in advance of the hearing. 
Late requests will be honored if possible.  
 
語言服務  
根據三藩市行政法第91章"語言服務條例"，中文、西班牙語和/或菲律賓語口譯服務在有人提出要求後會提

供。翻譯版本的會議記錄可在委員會後要求提供。其他語言協助在可能的情況下也可提供。請於會議前至

少48小時致電((415) 517-8465或電郵至[cac@sfwater.org] Lexus Moncrease 提出口譯要求。逾期要求， 
在可能狀況下會被考慮。 
 
ACCESO A IDIOMAS  
De acuerdo con la Ordenanza de Acceso a Idiomas “Language Access Ordinance” (Capítulo 91 del 
Código Administrativo de San Francisco “Chapter 91 of the San Francisco Administrative Code”) 
intérpretes de chino, español y/o filipino (tagalo) estarán disponibles de ser requeridos. Los minutos 
podrán ser traducidos, de ser requeridos, luego de ser aprobados por la comité. La asistencia en idiomas 
adicionales se tomará en cuenta siempre que sea posible. Para solicitar asistencia con estos servicios 
favor comunicarse con Lexus Moncrease al (415) 517-8465, o cac@sfwater.org por lo menos 48 horas 
antes de la reunión. Las solicitudes tardías serán consideradas de ser posible.  
 
PAG-ACCESS SA WIKA  
Ayon sa Language Access Ordinance (Chapter 91 ng San Francisco Administrative Code), maaaring 
mag-request ng mga tagapagsalin sa wikang Tsino, Espanyol, at/o Filipino (Tagalog). Kapag hiniling, ang 
mga kaganapan ng miting ay maaring isalin sa ibang wika matapos ito ay aprobahan ng komite. Maari din 
magkaroon ng tulong sa ibang wika. Sa mga ganitong uri ng kahilingan, mangyaring tumawag sa Lexus 
Moncrease at (415) 517-8465, o cac@sfwater.org sa hindi bababa sa 48 oras bago mag miting. Kung 
maari, ang mga late na hiling ay posibleng pagbibigyan. 
 
Lobbyist Registration and Reporting Requirements 
Individuals and entities that influence or attempt to influence local legislative or administrative action may 
be required by the San Francisco Lobbyist Ordinance [SF Campaign & Governmental Conduct Code 
§2.100] to register and report lobbying activity. For more information about the Lobbyist Ordinance, 
please contact the San Francisco Ethics Commission at 25 Van Ness Avenue, Suite 220 San Francisco, 
CA 94102, Phone: (415) 252-3100/Fax: (415) 252-3112, Email: ethics.commission@sfgov.org. 
 
Know your rights under the Sunshine Ordinance (Chapter 67 of the San Francisco Administrative 
Code)  

mailto:cac@sfwater.org
mailto:cac@sfwater.org
mailto:cac@sfwater.org
mailto:cac@sfwater.org
mailto:ethics.commission@sfgov.org


Government’s duty is to serve the public, reaching its decisions in full view of the public. Commissions, 
boards, councils, and other agencies of the City and County exist to conduct the people’s business. This 
ordinance assures that deliberations are conducted before the people and that City operations are open 
to the people’s review. For more information on your rights under the Sunshine Ordinance or to report a 
violation of the ordinance, contact the Sunshine Ordinance Task Force, by mail to Sunshine Ordinance 
Task Force, 1 Dr. Carlton B. Goodlett Place, Room 244 San Francisco, CA 94102-4683; by telephone 
415-554-7724, by Fax 415-554-7854, or by email: sotf@sfgov.org 
 
The ringing of and use of cell phones, pagers and similar sound-producing electronic devices are 
prohibited at this meeting. Please be advised that the Chair may order the removal from the meeting 
room of any person(s) responsible for the ringing or use of a cell phone, pager, or other similar sound- 
producing electronic devices. 
 

mailto:sotf@sfgov.org

	San Francisco Public Utilities Commission
	Citizens’ Advisory Committee
	Wastewater Subcommittee

